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p. 139, before “Notes on Miscellaneous Conduct Issues”: Trinko was applied to “price squeezes”
in Pacific Bell Telephone Co. v. Linkline Communications, Inc. (U.S. Feb. 25, 2009). The
opinion is produced below, for insertion at page 207.

p. 207 before concluding note, insert:

PACIFIC BELL TELEPHONE CO. v. LINKLINE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Supreme Court of the United States
129 S. Ct. 1109; 2009 U.S. LEXIS 1635 (Feb. 25, 2009)

CHIEF JusTICE ROBERTS delivered the opinion of the Court.

The plaintiffs in this case . . . allege that a competitor subjected them to a "price squeeze" in
violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act. They assert that such a claim can arise when a vertically
integrated firm sells inputs at wholesale and also sells finished goods or services at retail. If that
firm has power in the wholesale market, it can simultaneously raise the wholesale price of inputs
and cut the retail price of the finished good. This will have the effect of "squeezing" the profit
margins of any competitors in the retail market. Those firms will have to pay more for the inputs
they need; at the same time, they will have to cut their retail prices to match the other firm's
prices. The question before us is whether such a price-squeeze claim may be brought under § 2
of the Sherman Act when the defendant is under no antitrust obligation to sell the inputs to the
plaintiff in the first place. We hold that no such claim may be brought.

This case involves the market for digital subscriber line (DSL) service, which is a method of
connecting to the Internet at high speeds over telephone lines. AT&T owns much of the
infrastructure and facilities needed to provide DSL service in California. In particular, AT&T
controls most of what is known as the "last mile"--the lines that connect homes and businesses to
the telephone network. Competing DSL providers must generally obtain access to AT&T's
facilities in order to serve their customers.

Until recently, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) required incumbent phone
companies such as AT&T to sell transmission service to independent DSL providers, under the
theory that this would spur competition. In 2005, the Commission largely abandoned this
forced-sharing requirement in light of the emergence of a competitive market beyond DSL for
high-speed Internet service; DSL now faces robust competition from cable companies and
wireless and satellite services. As a condition for a recent merger, however, AT&T remains
bound by the mandatory interconnection requirements, and is obligated to provide wholesale
"DSL transport" service to independent firms at a price no greater than the retail price of AT&T's
DSL service.

The plaintiffs are four independent Internet service providers (ISPs) that compete with
AT&T in the retail DSL market. Plaintiffs . .. lease DSL transport service from AT&T pursuant
to the merger conditions described above. AT&T thus participates in the DSL market at both the
wholesale and retail levels . . ..
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In July 2003, the plaintiffs brought suit in District Court, alleging that AT&T violated § 2 of
the Sherman Act by monopolizing the DSL market in California. The complaint alleges that
AT&T refused to deal with the plaintiffs, denied the plaintiffs access to essential facilities, and
engaged in a "price squeeze." Specifically, plaintiffs contend that AT&T squeezed their profit
margins by setting a high wholesale price for DSL transport and a low retail price for DSL
Internet service. This maneuver allegedly "exclude[d] and unreasonably impede[d]
competition,” thus allowing AT&T to “preserve and maintain its monopoly control of DSL
access to the Internet.”

In Verizon Communications Inc. v. Law Offices of Curtis V. Trinko, LLP, 540 U.S. 398, 410
(2004), we held that a firm with no antitrust duty to deal with its rivals at all is under no
obligation to provide those rivals with a "sufficient™ level of service. Shortly after we issued that
decision, AT&T moved for judgment on the pleadings, arguing that the plaintiffs' claims in this
case were foreclosed by Trinko. The District Court held that AT&T had no antitrust duty to deal
with the plaintiffs, but it denied the motion to dismiss with respect to the price-squeeze claims.
The court acknowledged that AT&T's argument "has a certain logic to it," but held that Trinko
"simply does not involve price-squeeze claims.” . . ..

At the District Court's request, plaintiffs then filed an amended complaint providing greater
detail about their price-squeeze claims. AT&T again moved to dismiss, arguing that price-
squeeze claims could only proceed if they met the two established requirements for predatory
pricing: below-cost retail pricing and a "'dangerous probability™ that the defendant will recoup
any lost profits. See Brooke Group Ltd. v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209
222-224 (1993). The District Court did not reach the issue whether all price-squeeze claims
must meet the Brooke Group requirements, because it concluded that the amended complaint,
"generously construed,” satisfied those criteria. The court also certified its earlier order for
interlocutory appeal on the question whether "Trinko bars price squeeze claims where the parties
are compelled to deal under the federal communications laws."

On interlocutory appeal, the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed the District
Court's denial of AT&T's motion for judgment on the pleadings on the price-squeeze claims.
The court emphasized that "Trinko did not involve a price squeezing theory.” Because "a price
squeeze theory formed part of the fabric of traditional antitrust law prior to Trinko," the Court of
Appeals concluded that "those claims should remain viable notwithstanding either the
telecommunications statutes or Trinko." . ...

Judge Gould dissented . . .. Judge Gould would have allowed the plaintiffs to amend their
complaint if they could, in good faith, raise predatory pricing claims meeting the Brooke Group
requirements.

We granted certiorari to resolve a conflict over whether a plaintiff can bring price-squeeze
claims under § 2 of the Sherman Act when the defendant has no antitrust duty to deal with the
plaintiff. We reverse.


http://www.lexis.com/research/slft?cite=35343020552E532E2020333938&keyenum=15451&keytnum=0
http://www.lexis.com/research/slft?cite=35303920552E532E2020323039&keyenum=15451&keytnum=0
http://www.lexis.com/research/slft?cite=35303920552E532E2020323039&keyenum=15451&keytnum=0

This case has assumed an unusual posture. The plaintiffs now assert that they agree with
Judge Gould's dissenting position that price-squeeze claims must meet the Brooke Group
requirements for predatory pricing. They ask us to vacate the decision below in their favor and
remand with instructions that they be given leave to amend their complaint to allege a Brooke
Group claim. . ...

We do not think this case is moot. First, the parties continue to seek different relief. . . .

Second, it is not clear that the plaintiffs have unequivocally abandoned their price-squeeze
claims.

... [PJrudential concerns favor our answering the question presented. . . .

Il
A

As a general rule, businesses are free to choose the parties with whom they will deal, as well
as the prices, terms, and conditions of that dealing. See United States v. Colgate & Co., 250 U.S.
300, 307 (1919). But there are rare instances in which a dominant firm may incur antitrust
liability for purely unilateral conduct. For example, we have ruled that firms may not charge
"predatory™ prices--below-cost prices that drive rivals out of the market and allow the monopolist
to raise its prices later and recoup its losses. Brooke Group, 509 U.S. at 222-224. Here,
however, the complaint at issue does not contain allegations meeting those requirements.

There are also limited circumstances in which a firm's unilateral refusal to deal with its rivals
can give rise to antitrust liability. See Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Corp., 472
U.S. 585, 608-611 (1985). Here, however the District Court held that AT&T had no such
antitrust duty to deal with its competitors, and this holding was not challenged on appeal. *

The challenge here focuses on retail prices--where there is no predatory pricing--and the
terms of dealing--where there is no duty to deal. Plaintiffs' price-squeeze claims challenge a
different type of unilateral conduct in which a firm "squeezes" the profit margins of its
competitors. This requires the defendant to be operating in two markets, a wholesale
("upstream™) market and a retail ("downstream™) market. A firm with market power in the
upstream market can squeeze its downstream competitors by raising the wholesale price of
inputs while cutting its own retail prices. This will raise competitors' costs (because they will
have to pay more for their inputs) and lower their revenues (because they will have to match the

! The Court of Appeals assumed that any duty to deal arose only from FCC regulations,
and the question on which we granted certiorari made the same assumption. Even aside from the
District Court's reasoning, it seems quite unlikely that AT&T would have an antitrust duty to
deal with the plaintiffs. Such a duty requires a showing of monopoly power, but--as the FCC has
recognized--the market for high-speed Internet service is now quite competitive; DSL providers
face stiff competition from cable companies and wireless and satellite providers.
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dominant firm's low retail price). Price-squeeze plaintiffs assert that defendants must leave them
a "fair" or "adequate™ margin between the wholesale price and the retail price. In this case, we
consider whether a plaintiff can state a price-squeeze claim when the defendant has no obligation
under the antitrust laws to deal with the plaintiff at wholesale.

B

1. A straightforward application of our recent decision in Trinko forecloses any challenge to
AT&T's wholesale prices. In Trinko, Verizon was required by statute to lease its network
elements to competing firms at wholesale rates. The plaintiff--a customer of one of Verizon's
rivals--asserted that VVerizon denied its competitors access to interconnection support services,
making it difficult for those competitors to fill their customers’ orders. The complaint alleged
that this conduct in the upstream market violated § 2 of the Sherman Act by impeding the ability
of independent carriers to compete in the downstream market for local telephone service.

We held that the plaintiff's claims were not actionable under § 2. Given that Verizon had no
antitrust duty to deal with its rivals at all, we concluded that "Verizon's alleged insufficient
assistance in the provision of service to rivals" did not violate the Sherman Act. Trinko thus
makes clear that if a firm has no antitrust duty to deal with its competitors at wholesale, it
certainly has no duty to deal under terms and conditions that the rivals find commercially
advantageous.

In this case, as in Trinko, the defendant has no antitrust duty to deal with its rivals at
wholesale; any such duty arises only from FCC regulations, not from the Sherman Act. There is
no meaningful distinction between the "insufficient assistance™ claims we rejected in Trinko and
the plaintiffs' price-squeeze claims in the instant case. The Trinko plaintiffs challenged the
quality of Verizon's interconnection service, while this case involves a challenge to AT&T's
pricing structure. But for antitrust purposes, there is no reason to distinguish between price and
nonprice components of a transaction. See, e.g., American Telephone & Telegraph Co. v.
Central Office Telephone, Inc., 524 U.S. 214, 223 (1998) ("Any claim for excessive rates can be
couched as a claim for inadequate services and vice versa™). The nub of the complaint in both
Trinko and this case is identical--the plaintiffs alleged that the defendants (upstream
monopolists) abused their power in the wholesale market to prevent rival firms from competing
effectively in the retail market. Trinko holds that such claims are not cognizable under the
Sherman Act in the absence of an antitrust duty to deal.

The District Court and the Court of Appeals did not regard Trinko as controlling because that
case did not directly address price-squeeze claims. This is technically true, but the reasoning of
Trinko applies with equal force to price-squeeze claims. AT&T could have squeezed its
competitors' profits just as effectively by providing poor-quality interconnection service to the
plaintiffs, as Verizon allegedly did in Trinko. But a firm with no duty to deal in the wholesale
market has no obligation to deal under terms and conditions favorable to its competitors. If
AT&T had simply stopped providing DSL transport service to the plaintiffs, it would not have
run afoul of the Sherman Act. Under these circumstances, AT&T was not required to offer this
service at the wholesale prices the plaintiffs would have preferred.

2. The other component of a price-squeeze claim is the assertion that the defendant's retail
prices are "too low." Here too plaintiffs' claims find no support in our existing antitrust doctrine.
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"[C]utting prices in order to increase business often is the very essence of competition.”
Matsushita Elec. Industrial Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 594 (1986). In cases
seeking to impose antitrust liability for prices that are too low, mistaken inferences are
"especially costly, because they chill the very conduct the antitrust laws are designed to protect.”
Ibid.; see also Brooke Group, 509 U.S., at 226 . ... To avoid chilling aggressive price
competition, we have carefully limited the circumstances under which plaintiffs can state a
Sherman Act claim by alleging that prices are too low. Specifically, to prevail on a predatory
pricing claim, a plaintiff must demonstrate that: (1) "the prices complained of are below an
appropriate measure of its rival's costs"; and (2) there is a "dangerous probability" that the
defendant will be able to recoup its "investment™ in below-cost prices. Brooke Group, supra, at
222-224. . ..

In the complaint at issue in this interlocutory appeal, there is no allegation that AT&T's
conduct met either of the Brooke Group requirements. Recognizing a price-squeeze claim where
the defendant's retail price remains above cost would invite the precise harm we sought to avoid
in Brooke Group: Firms might raise their retail prices or refrain from aggressive price
competition to avoid potential antitrust liability. . . .

3. Plaintiffs' price-squeeze claim, looking to the relation between retail and wholesale prices,
is thus nothing more than an amalgamation of a meritless claim at the retail level and a meritless
claim at the wholesale level. If there is no duty to deal at the wholesale level and no predatory
pricing at the retail level, then a firm is certainly not required to price both of these services in a
manner that preserves its rivals' profit margins. 2

C

1. Institutional concerns also counsel against recognition of such claims. We have
repeatedly emphasized the importance of clear rules in antitrust law. Courts are ill suited "to act
as central planners, identifying the proper price, quantity, and other terms of dealing." Trinko,
540 U.S., at 408. "No court should impose a duty to deal that it cannot explain or adequately
and reasonably supervise. The problem should be deemed irremedia[ble] by antitrust law when
compulsory access requires the court to assume the day-to-day controls characteristic of a
regulatory agency.™ Id., at 415 (quoting Areeda, Essential Facilities: An Epithet in Need of
Limiting Principles, 58 Antitrust L. J. 841, 853 (1989)) . . . .

2 Like the Court of Appeals, amici argue that price-squeeze claims have been recognized
by Circuit Courts for many years, beginning with Judge Hand's opinion in United States v.
Aluminum Co. of America, 148 F.2d 416 (CA2 1945) (Alcoa). In that case, the Government
alleged that Alcoa was using its monopoly power in the upstream aluminum ingot market to
squeeze the profits of downstream aluminum sheet fabricators. The court concluded: "That it
was unlawful to set the price of 'sheet’ so low and hold the price of ingot so high, seems to us
unquestionable, provided, as we have held, that on this record the price of ingot must be regarded
as higher than a 'fair price.™ Given developments in economic theory and antitrust jurisprudence
since Alcoa, we find our recent decisions in Trinko and Brooke Group more pertinent to the
question before us.
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It is difficult enough for courts to identify and remedy an alleged anticompetitive practice at
one level, such as predatory pricing in retail markets or a violation of the duty-to-deal doctrine at
the wholesale level. . . .. Recognizing price-squeeze claims would require courts simultaneously
to police both the wholesale and retail prices to ensure that rival firms are not being squeezed.
And courts would be aiming at a moving target, since it is the interaction between these two
prices that may result in a squeeze.

Perhaps most troubling, firms that seek to avoid price-squeeze liability will have no safe
harbor for their pricing practices. See Town of Concord, supra, at 22 (antitrust rules "must be
clear enough for lawyers to explain them to clients"”). . . .

The most commonly articulated standard for price squeezes is that the defendant must leave
its rivals a "fair" or "adequate” margin between the wholesale price and the retail price. See
Town of Concord, supra, at 23-25; Alcoa, 148 F.2d 416, 437-438 (CA2 1945). One of our
colleagues has highlighted the flaws of this test in Socratic fashion:

"[H]ow is a judge or jury to determine a 'fair price?' Is it the price charged by other
suppliers of the primary product? None exist. Is it the price that competition 'would
have set' were the primary level not monopolized? How can the court determine this
price without examining costs and demands, indeed without acting like a rate-setting
regulatory agency, the rate-setting proceedings of which often last for several years?
Further, how is the court to decide the proper size of the price 'gap?' Must it be large
enough for all independent competing firms to make a 'living profit,' no matter how
inefficient they may be? ... And how should the court respond when costs or
demands change over time, as they inevitably will?" Town of Concord, supra, at 25.

Some amici respond to these concerns by proposing a “transfer price test™ for identifying an
unlawful price squeeze: A price squeeze should be presumed if the upstream monopolist could
not have made a profit by selling at its retail rates if it purchased inputs at its own wholesale
rates. Whether or not that test is administrable, it lacks any grounding in our antitrust
jurisprudence. An upstream monopolist with no duty to deal is free to charge whatever
wholesale price it would like; antitrust law does not forbid lawfully obtained monopolies from
charging monopoly prices. . .. Similarly, the Sherman Act does not forbid--indeed, it
encourages--aggressive price competition at the retail level, as long as the prices being charged
are not predatory. Brooke Group, 509 U.S., at 223-224. If both the wholesale price and the
retail price are independently lawful, there is no basis for imposing antitrust liability simply
because a vertically integrated firm's wholesale price happens to be greater than or equal to its
retail price.

2. Amici assert that there are circumstances in which price squeezes may harm competition.
For example, they assert that price squeezes may raise entry barriers that fortify the upstream
monopolist's position; they also contend that price squeezes may impair nonprice competition
and innovation in the downstream market by driving independent firms out of business.

The problem, however, is that amici have not identified any independent competitive harm
caused by price squeezes above and beyond the harm that would result from a duty-to-deal
violation at the wholesale level or predatory pricing at the retail level. See 3A P. Areeda & H.
Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law  767c, p 126 (2d ed. 2002) ("[I]t is difficult to see any competitive
significance [of a price squeeze] apart from the consequences of vertical integration itself"). To
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the extent a monopolist violates one of these doctrines, the plaintiffs have a remedy under
existing law. We do not need to endorse a new theory of liability to prevent such harm.

v

Lastly, as mentioned above, plaintiffs have asked us for leave to amend their complaint to
bring a Brooke Group predatory pricing claim. We need not decide whether leave to amend
should be granted. Our grant of certiorari was limited to the question whether price-squeeze
claims are cognizable in the absence of an antitrust duty to deal. The Court of Appeals addressed
only AT&T's motion for judgment on the pleadings on the plaintiffs' original complaint. For the
reasons stated, we hold that the price-squeeze claims set forth in that complaint are not
cognizable under the Sherman Act. . . .

* * *

The judgment of the Court of Appeals is reversed, and the case is remanded for further
proceedings consistent with this opinion. . . .

JusTICE BREYER with whom JUSTICE STEVENS, JUSTICE SOUTER, and JUSTICE GINSBURG join,
concurring in the judgment.

I would accept respondents' concession that the Ninth Circuit majority's "price squeeze”
holding is wrong, | would vacate the Circuit's decision, and | would remand the case in order to
allow the District Court to determine whether respondents may proceed with their "predatory
pricing" claim as set forth in Judge Gould's dissenting Ninth Circuit opinion.

A "price squeeze" claim finds its natural home in a Sherman Act §2 monopolization case
where the Government as plaintiff seeks to show that a defendant's monopoly power rests, not
upon "skill, foresight and industry,"” United States v. Aluminum Co. of America, 148 F.2d 416
430 (CA2 1945) (Alcoa), but upon exclusionary conduct, United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384
U.S. 563, 576 (1966). As this Court pointed out in Verizon Communications Inc. v. Law Offices
of Curtis V. Trinko, LLP, 540 U.S. 398 (2004), the ""'means of illicit exclusion, like the means of
legitimate competition, are myriad.™ Id., at 414 (quoting United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253
F.3d 34, 58 (CADC 2001) (en banc) (per curiam)). They may involve a "course of dealing" that,
even if profitable, indicates a "willingness to forsake short-term profits to achieve an
anticompetitive end.” Trinko, supra, at 409. See, e.g., Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands
Skiing Corp., 472 U.S. 585, 610-611 (1985); Complaint in United States v. International
Business Machines Corp., Civil Action No. 69 Civ. 200 (SDNY, filed Jan. 17, 1969), 1 20(c) . . .
. And, as Judge Hand wrote many years ago, a "price squeeze" may fall within that latter
category. Alcoa, supra, at 437-438. As a matter of logic, it may be that a particular price
squeeze can only be exclusionary if a refusal by the monopolist to sell to the "squeezed
customer"” would also be exclusionary. But a court, faced with a price squeeze rather than a
refusal to deal, is unlikely to find the latter (hypothetical) question any easier to answer than the
former.

I would try neither to answer these hypothetical questions here nor to foreshadow their
answer. We have before us a regulated firm. During the time covered by the complaint,
petitioners were required to provide wholesale digital subscriber line (DSL) transport service as a
common carrier, charging "just and reasonable" rates that were not "unreasonabl[y]
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discriminat[ory]." 47 U.S.C. §§ 201(b), 202(a) (2000 ed.). And, in my view, a purchaser from a
regulated firm (which, if a natural monopolist, is lawfully such) cannot win an antitrust case
simply by showing that it is "squeezed™ between the regulated firm's wholesale price (to the
plaintiff) and its retail price (to customers for whose business both firms compete). When a
regulatory structure exists to deter and remedy anticompetitive harm, the costs of antitrust
enforcement are likely to be greater than the benefits. See Town of Concord v. Boston Edison
Co., 915 F.2d 17, 26-29 (CA1 1990). Cf.3 P. Areeda & D. Turner, Antitrust Law 19 834-836,
pp 344-355 (1978) (whether a particular course of conduct counts as "exclusionary™ for antitrust
purposes depends upon a host of factors, including, for example, the market position of the
defendant, the nature of the market, and the nature of the defendant's conduct).

Respondents now seek to show only that the defendant engaged in predatory pricing, within
the terms of this Court's decision in Brooke Group Ltd. v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp.,
509 U.S. 209 (1993). The District Court can determine whether there is anything in the
procedural history of this case that bars respondents from asserting their predatory pricing claim.
And if not, it can decide the merits of that claim. As I said, | would remand the case so that it
can do so.

Notes and Questions

(1) To what extent does Justices Breyer, with Justices Stevens, Souter, and Ginsburg,
disagree with the other five Justices? Which group has the better of the disagreement?

(2) Should the Court have simply summarily reversed, citing Trinko? Why or why not?

(3) Is the result of this case to allow a monopolist in an upstream market to monopolize
all downstream markets as well? Or will that possibility be policed by the doctrine of the
“antitrust duty to deal”? (Consider “day skiing” and “destination skiing” in Aspen Skiing.) Try to
put into your own words the concept of an “antitrust duty to deal.”

(4) Back in 1945 (Alcoa) a “price squeeze” seemed like a wrong that should be prevented.
In 2009 it did not. What changed?
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On pages 419 and 420, delete notes (7) and (8).

Insert for page 420

AMERICAN NEEDLE, INC. v. NATIONAL FOOTBALL LEAGUE

Supreme Court of the United States
176 L. Ed. 2d 947; 2010 U.S. LEXIS 4166 (2010)

JusTice STEVENS delivered the opinion of the Court.

"Every contract, combination in the form of a trust or otherwise, or, conspiracy, in restraint
of trade" is made illegal by § 1 of the Sherman Act. The question whether an arrangement is a
contract, combination, or conspiracy is different from and antecedent to the question whether it
unreasonably restrains trade. This case raises that antecedent question about the business of the
32 teams in the National Football League (NFL) and a corporate entity that they formed to
manage their intellectual property. We conclude that the NFL's licensing activities constitute
concerted action that is not categorically beyond the coverage of § 1. The legality of that
concerted action must be judged under the Rule of Reason.

Originally organized in 1920, the NFL is an unincorporated association that now includes 32
separately owned professional football teams.® Each team has its own name, colors, and logo,
and owns related intellectual property. Like each of the other teams in the league, the New
Orleans Saints and the Indianapolis Colts, for example, have their own distinctive names, colors,
and marks that are well known to millions of sports fans.

Prior to 1963, the teams made their own arrangements for licensing their intellectual property
and marketing trademarked items such as caps and jerseys. In 1963, the teams formed National
Football League Properties (NFLP) to develop, license, and market their intellectual property.
Most, but not all, of the substantial revenues generated by NFLP have either been given to
charity or shared equally among the teams. However, the teams are able to and have at times
sought to withdraw from this arrangement.

Between 1963 and 2000, NFLP granted nonexclusive licenses to a number of vendors,
permitting them to manufacture and sell apparel bearing team insignias. Petitioner, American
Needle, Inc., was one of those licensees. In December 2000, the teams voted to authorize NFLP
to grant exclusive licenses, and NFLP granted Reebok International Ltd. an exclusive 10-year

¥ The NFL was founded in Canton, Ohio as the "American Professional Football
Association."” . . . It took its current name in 1922. Forty-one franchises failed in the first forty-
one years of the League's existence.
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license to manufacture and sell trademarked headwear for all 32 teams. It thereafter declined to
renew American Needle's nonexclusive license.

American Needle filed this action in the Northern District of Illinois, alleging that the
agreements between the NFL, its teams, NFLP, and Reebok violated §§ 1 and 2 of the Sherman
Act. In their answer to the complaint, the defendants averred that the teams, NFL, and NFLP
were incapable of conspiring within the meaning of § 1 "because they are a single economic
enterprise, at least with respect to the conduct challenged.” After limited discovery, the District
Court granted summary judgment . . . American Needle, Inc. v. New Orleans La. Saints, 496 F.
Supp. 2d 941, 943 (2007). The court concluded "that in that facet of their operations they have so
integrated their operations that they should be deemed a single entity rather than joint ventures
cooperating for a common purpose."

The Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit affirmed. The panel observed that “in some
contexts, a league seems more aptly described as a single entity immune from antitrust scrutiny,
while in others a league appears to be a joint venture between independently owned teams that is
subject to review under § 1." Relying on Circuit precedent, the court limited its inquiry to the
particular conduct at issue, licensing of teams' intellectual property. The panel agreed with
petitioner that "when making a single-entity determination, courts must examine whether the
conduct in question deprives the marketplace of the independent sources of economic control
that competition assumes.” The court, however, discounted the significance of potential
competition among the teams regarding the use of their intellectual property because the teams
"can function only as one source of economic power when collectively producing NFL football."
The court noted that football itself can only be carried out jointly. ("Asserting that a single
football team could produce a football game . . . is a Zen riddle: Who wins when a football team
plays itself ""). Moreover, "NFL teams share a vital economic interest in collectively promoting
NFL football . . . [to] compet[e] with other forms of entertainment.” "It thus follows," the court
found, "that only one source of economic power controls the promotion of NFL football,” and "it
makes little sense to assert that each individual team has the authority, if not the responsibility, to
promote the jointly produced NFL football." Recognizing that NFL teams have "license[d] their
intellectual property collectively” since 1963, the court held that § 1 did not apply.

As the case comes to us, we have only a narrow issue to decide: whether the NFL
respondents are capable of engaging in a "contract, combination . . ., or conspiracy" as defined
by § 1 of the Sherman Act, or, as we have sometimes phrased it, whether the alleged activity by
the NFL respondents "must be viewed as that of a single enterprise for purposes of § 1."
Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 752, 771 (1984).

Taken literally, the applicability of § 1 to "every contract, combination . . . or conspiracy"
could be understood to cover every conceivable agreement, whether it be a group of competing
firms fixing prices or a single firm's chief executive telling her subordinate how to price their
company's product. But even though, "read literally,” § 1 would address "the entire body of
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private contract,” that is not what the statute means. ... See also Texaco Inc. v. Dagher, 547
U.S. 1,5 (2006) ("This Court has not taken a literal approach to this language"); cf. Board of
Trade of Chicago v. United States, 246 U.S. 231, 238 (1918) (reasoning that the term "restraint
of trade" in § 1 cannot possibly refer to any restraint on competition because "[e]very agreement
concerning trade, every regulation of trade, restrains. To bind, to restrain, is of their very
essence™). Not every instance of cooperation between two people is a potential "contract,
combination . . ., or conspiracy, in restraint of trade."”

... [U]nlike independent action, "[c]oncerted activity inherently is fraught with
anticompetitive risk" insofar as it "deprives the marketplace of independent centers of
decisionmaking that competition assumes and demands."” 1d., at 768-769. And because
concerted action is discrete and distinct, a limit on such activity leaves untouched a vast amount
of business conduct. As a result, there is less risk of deterring a firm's necessary conduct; courts
need only examine discrete agreements; and such conduct may be remedied simply through
prohibition. . . . Concerted activity is thus "judged more sternly than unilateral activity under §
2," Copperweld, 467 U.S., at 768. For these reasons, § 1 prohibits any concerted action "in
restraint of trade or commerce,"” even if the action does not "threate[n] monopolization,™ Ibid.
And therefore, an arrangement must embody concerted action in order to be a "contract,
combination . . . or conspiracy" under § 1.

We have long held that concerted action under § 1 does not turn simply on whether the
parties involved are legally distinct entities. Instead, we have eschewed such formalistic
distinctions in favor of a functional consideration of how the parties involved in the alleged
anticompetitive conduct actually operate.

As a result, we have repeatedly found instances in which members of a legally single entity
violated § 1 when the entity was controlled by a group of competitors and served, in essence, as a
vehicle for ongoing concerted activity. In United States v. Sealy, Inc., 388 U.S. 350 (1967), for
example, a group of mattress manufacturers operated and controlled Sealy, Inc., a company that
licensed the Sealy trademark to the manufacturers, and dictated that each operate within a
specific geographic area. 1d., at 352-353. The Government alleged that the licensees and Sealy
were conspiring in violation of § 1, and we agreed. Id., at 352-354. We explained that "[w]e
seek the central substance of the situation™ and therefore "we are moved by the identity of the
persons who act, rather than the label of their hats.” Id., at 353. We thus held that Sealy was not
a "separate entity, but . . . an instrumentality of the individual manufacturers.” 1d., at 356. In
similar circumstances, we have found other formally distinct business organizations covered by §
1. ... We have similarly looked past the form of a legally "single entity" when competitors were
part of professional organizations or trade groups.

Conversely, there is not necessarily concerted action simply because more than one legally
distinct entity is involved. Although, under a now-defunct doctrine known as the "intraenterprise
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conspiracy doctrine," we once treated cooperation between legally separate entities as
necessarily covered by § 1, we now embark on a more functional analysis.

The roots of this functional analysis can be found in the very decision that established the
intraenterprise conspiracy doctrine. In United States v. Yellow Cab Co., 332 U.S. 218 (1947), we
observed that "corporate interrelationships . . . are not determinitive of the applicability of the
Sherman Act" because the Act "is aimed at substance rather than form." Id., at 227. We
nonetheless held that cooperation between legally separate entities was necessarily covered by §
1 because an unreasonable restraint of trade "may result as readily from a conspiracy among
those who are affiliated or integrated under common ownership as from a conspiracy among
those who are otherwise independent.” Ibid.; see also Kiefer-Stewart Co. v. Joseph E. Seagram
& Sons, Inc., 340 U.S. 211, 215 (1951).

We finally reexamined the intraenterprise conspiracy doctrine in Copperweld Corp. v.
Independence Tube Corp., 467 U.S. 752 (1984), and concluded that it was inconsistent with the
"basic distinction between concerted and independent action.™ 1d., at 767. Considering it
"perfectly plain that an internal agreement to implement a single, unitary firm's policies does not
raise the antitrust dangers that § 1 was designed to police,"” id., at 769, we held that a parent
corporation and its wholly owned subsidiary "are incapable of conspiring with each other for
purposes of § 1 of the Sherman Act," id., at 777. We explained that although a parent
corporation and its wholly owned subsidiary are "separate™ for the purposes of incorporation or
formal title, they are controlled by a single center of decisionmaking and they control a single
aggregation of economic power. Joint conduct by two such entities does not "depriv[e] the
marketplace of independent centers of decisionmaking,” id., at 769, and as a result, an agreement
between them does not constitute a "contract, combination . . . or conspiracy" for the purposes of

§1.

v

As Copperweld exemplifies, "substance, not form, should determine whether a[n] . . . entity
is capable of conspiring under § 1." 467 U.S., at 773, n. 21. This inquiry is sometimes described
as asking whether the alleged conspirators are a single entity. That is perhaps a misdescription,
however, because the question is not whether the defendant is a legally single entity or has a
single name; nor is the question whether the parties involved "seem" like one firm or multiple
firms in any metaphysical sense. The key is whether the alleged "contract, combination . . ., or
conspiracy™ is concerted action -- that is, whether it joins together separate decisionmakers. The
relevant inquiry, therefore, is whether there is a "contract, combination . . . or conspiracy"
amongst "separate economic actors pursuing separate economic interests," id., at 769, such that
the agreement "deprives the marketplace of independent centers of decisionmaking,” ibid., and
therefore of "diversity of entrepreneurial interests,” Fraser v. Major League Soccer, L. L. C., 284
F.3d 47, 57 (CA1 2002) (Boudin, C. J.), and thus of actual or potential competition, see Freeman
v. San Diego Ass'n of Realtors, 322 F.3d 1133, 1148-1149 (CA9 2003) (Kozinski, J.); Rothery
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Storage & Van Co. v. Atlas Van Lines, Inc., 792 F.2d 210, 214-215, 253 U.S. App. D.C. 142
(CADC 1986) (Bork, J.); see also Areeda & Hovenkamp 1462b, at 193-194 (noting that the
"central evil addressed by Sherman Act § 1" is the "elimin[ation of] competition that would
otherwise exist").

Thus, while the president and a vice president of a firm could (and regularly do) act in
combination, their joint action generally is not the sort of "combination” that § 1 is intended to
cover. Such agreements might be described as "really unilateral behavior flowing from decisions
of a single enterprise.” Copperweld, 467 U.S., at 767. Nor, for this reason, does § 1 cover
"internally coordinated conduct of a corporation and one of its unincorporated divisions," id., at
770, because "[a] division within a corporate structure pursues the common interests of the
whole," ibid., and therefore "coordination between a corporation and its division does not
represent a sudden joining of two independent sources of economic power previously pursuing
separate interests,” id., at 770-771. Nor, for the same reasons, is "the coordinated activity of a
parent and its wholly owned subsidiary" covered. See id., at 771. They "have a complete unity of
interest” and thus "[w]ith or without a formal 'agreement,’ the subsidiary acts for the benefit of
the parent, its sole shareholder.” Ibid.

\Y

The NFL teams do not possess either the unitary decisionmaking quality or the single
aggregation of economic power characteristic of independent action. Each of the teams is a
substantial, independently owned, and independently managed business. "[T]heir general
corporate actions are guided or determined” by "separate corporate consciousnesses," and
"[t]heir objectives are” not "common." Copperweld, 467 U.S., at 771; see also North American
Soccer League v. NFL, 670 F.2d 1249, 1252 (CA2 1982) (discussing ways that "the financial
performance of each team, while related to that of the others, does not . . . necessarily rise and
fall with that of the others™). The teams compete with one another, not only on the playing field,
but to attract fans, for gate receipts and for contracts with managerial and playing personnel. See
Brown v. Pro Football, Inc., 518 U.S. 231, 249, (1996); Sullivan v. NFL, 34 F.3d 1091, 1098
(CA1 1994); Mid-South Grizzlies v. NFL, 720 F.2d 772, 787 (CA3 1983); cf. NCAA, 468 U.S., at
99.

Directly relevant to this case, the teams compete in the market for intellectual property. To a
firm making hats, the Saints and the Colts are two potentially competing suppliers of valuable
trademarks. When each NFL team licenses its intellectual property, it is not pursuing the
"common interests of the whole" league but is instead pursuing interests of each "corporation
itself,” Copperweld, 467 U.S., at 770; teams are acting as "separate economic actors pursuing
separate economic interests,” and each team therefore is a potential "independent cente[r] of
decisionmaking," id., at 769. Decisions by NFL teams to license their separately owned
trademarks collectively and to only one vendor are decisions that "depriv[e] the marketplace of
independent centers of decisionmaking,"” ibid., and therefore of actual or potential competition.
See NCAA, 468 U.S., at 109, n. 39 (observing a possible § 1 violation if two separately owned
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companies sold their separate products through a "single selling agent™); cf. Areeda &
Hovenkamp 11478a, at 318 ("Obviously, the most significant competitive threats arise when
joint venture participants are actual or potential competitors").

In defense, respondents argue that by forming NFLP, they have formed a single entity, akin
to a merger, and market their NFL brands through a single outlet. But it is not dispositive that the
teams have organized and own a legally separate entity that centralizes the management of their
intellectual property. An ongoing § 1 violation cannot evade § 1 scrutiny simply by giving the
ongoing violation a name and label. "Perhaps every agreement and combination in restraint of
trade could be so labeled." Timken Roller Bearing Co. v. United States, 341 U.S. 593, 598
(1951).

The NFL respondents may be similar in some sense to a single enterprise that owns several
pieces of intellectual property and licenses them jointly, but they are not similar in the relevant
functional sense. Although NFL teams have common interests such as promoting the NFL brand,
they are still separate, profit-maximizing entities, and their interests in licensing team trademarks
are not necessarily aligned. ... Common interests in the NFL brand "partially unit[e] the
economic interests of the parent firms,” Broadley, Joint Ventures and Antitrust Policy, 95 Harv.
L. Rev. 1521, 1526 (1982) (emphasis added), but the teams still have distinct, potentially
competing interests.

It may be, as respondents argue, that NFLP "has served as the 'single driver" of the teams'
"promotional vehicle,” "'pursu[ing] the common interests of the whole."" Brief for NFL
Respondents 28 (quoting Copperweld, 467 U.S., at 770-771; brackets in original). But illegal
restraints often are in the common interests of the parties to the restraint, at the expense of those
who are not parties. It is true, as respondents describe, that they have for some time marketed
their trademarks jointly. But a history of concerted activity does not immunize conduct from § 1
scrutiny. "Absence of actual competition may simply be a manifestation of the anticompetitive
agreement itself." Freeman, 322 F.3d at 1149.

Respondents argue that nonetheless, as the Court of Appeals held, they constitute a single
entity because without their cooperation, there would be no NFL football. It is true that "the
clubs that make up a professional sports league are not completely independent economic
competitors, as they depend upon a degree of cooperation for economic survival." Brown, 518
U.S., at 248. But the Court of Appeals' reasoning is unpersuasive.

The justification for cooperation is not relevant to whether that cooperation is concerted or
independent action. A "contract, combination . . . or conspiracy,” § 1, that is necessary or useful
to a joint venture is still a "contract, combination . . . or conspiracy" if it "deprives the
marketplace of independent centers of decisionmaking,” Copperweld, 467 U.S., at 769. See
NCAA, 468 U.S., at 113. ("[J]oint ventures have no immunity from antitrust laws"). Any joint
venture involves multiple sources of economic power cooperating to produce a product. And for
many such ventures, the participation of others is necessary. But that does not mean that
necessity of cooperation transforms concerted action into independent action; a nut and a bolt
can only operate together, but an agreement between nut and bolt manufacturers is still subject to
§ 1 analysis. Nor does it mean that once a group of firms agree to produce a joint product,
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cooperation amongst those firms must be treated as independent conduct. The mere fact that the
teams operate jointly in some sense does not mean that they are immune.®

The question whether NFLP decisions can constitute concerted activity covered by § 1 is
closer than whether decisions made directly by the 32 teams are covered by § 1. This is so both
because NFLP is a separate corporation with its own management and because the record
indicates that most of the revenues generated by NFLP are shared by the teams on an equal basis.
Nevertheless we think it clear that for the same reasons the 32 teams' conduct is covered by § 1,
NFLP's actions also are subject to § 1, at least with regards to its marketing of property owned by
the separate teams. NFLP's licensing decisions are made by the 32 potential competitors, and
each of them actually owns its share of the jointly managed assets. Cf. Sealy, 388 U.S., at 352-
354. Apart from their agreement to cooperate in exploiting those assets, including their decisions
as the NFLP, there would be nothing to prevent each of the teams from making its own market
decisions relating to purchases of apparel and headwear, to the sale of such items, and to the
granting of licenses to use its trademarks.

We generally treat agreements within a single firm as independent action on the presumption
that the components of the firm will act to maximize the firm's profits. But in rare cases, that
presumption does not hold. Agreements made within a firm can constitute concerted action
covered by § 1 when the parties to the agreement act on interests separate from those of the firm
itself, and the intrafirm agreements may simply be a formalistic shell for ongoing concerted
action. See, e.g., Topco Associates, Inc., 405 U.S., at 609; Sealy, 388 U.S., at 352-354.

For that reason, decisions by the NFLP regarding the teams' separately owned intellectual
property constitute concerted action. Thirty-two teams operating independently through the
vehicle of the NFLP are not like the components of a single firm that act to maximize the firm's
profits. The teams remain separately controlled, potential competitors with economic interests
that are distinct from NFLP's financial well-being. . . . Unlike typical decisions by corporate
shareholders, NFLP licensing decisions effectively require the assent of more than a mere

® In any event, it simply is not apparent that the alleged conduct was necessary at all.
Although two teams are needed to play a football game, not all aspects of elaborate interleague
cooperation are necessary to produce a game. Moreover, even if leaguewide agreements are
necessary to produce football, it does not follow that concerted activity in marketing intellectual
property is necessary to produce football.

The Court of Appeals carved out a zone of antitrust immunity for conduct arguably related to
league operations by reasoning that coordinated team trademark sales are necessary to produce
"NFL football," a single NFL brand that competes against other forms of entertainment. But
defining the product as "NFL football" puts the cart before the horse: Of course the NFL
produces NFL football; but that does not mean that cooperation amongst NFL teams is immune
from § 1 scrutiny. Members of any cartel could insist that their cooperation is necessary to
produce the "cartel product” and compete with other products.
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majority of shareholders. And each team's decision reflects not only an interest in NFLP's profits
but also an interest in the team's individual profits. ... The 32 teams capture individual
economic benefits separate and apart from NFLP profits as a result of the decisions they make
for the NFLP. NFLP's decisions thus affect each team's profits from licensing its own intellectual
property. "Although the business interests of" the teams "will often coincide with those of the"
NFLP "as an entity in itself, that commonality of interest exists in every cartel.” Los Angeles
Memorial Coliseum Comm'n v. NFL, 726 F.2d 1381, 1389 (CA9 1984) (emphasis added). In
making the relevant licensing decisions, NFLP is therefore "an instrumentality” of the teams.
Sealy, 388 U.S., at 352-354; see also Topco Associates, Inc., 405 U.S., at 609.

If the fact that potential competitors shared in profits or losses from a venture meant that the
venture was immune from § 1, then any cartel "could evade the antitrust law simply by creating a
'Joint venture' to serve as the exclusive seller of their competing products.” Major League
Baseball Properties, Inc. v. Salvino, Inc., 542 F.3d 290, 335 (CA2 2008) (Sotomayor, J.,
concurring in judgment). "So long as no agreement,” other than one made by the cartelists sitting
on the board of the joint venture, "explicitly listed the prices to be charged, the companies could
act as monopolies through the ‘joint venture.™ Ibid. (Indeed, a joint venture with a single
management structure is generally a better way to operate a cartel because it decreases the risks
of a party to an illegal agreement defecting from that agreement). However, competitors "cannot
simply get around” antitrust liability by acting "through a third-party intermediary or ‘joint
venture'." 1d., at 336.%°

Vi

Football teams that need to cooperate are not trapped by antitrust law. "[T]he special
characteristics of this industry may provide a justification™ for many kinds of agreements.
Brown, 518 U.S., at 252 (STEVENS, J., dissenting). The fact that NFL teams share an interest in
making the entire league successful and profitable, and that they must cooperate in the
production and scheduling of games, provides a perfectly sensible justification for making a host

19 For the purposes of resolving this case, there is no need to pass upon the Government's
position that entities are incapable of conspiring under § 1 if they "have effectively merged the
relevant aspect of their operations, thereby eliminating actual and potential competition . . . in
that operational sphere™ and "the challenged restraint [does] not significantly affect actual or
potential competition . . . outside their merged operations.” Brief for United States as Amicus
Curiae 17. The Government urges that the choices "to offer only a blanket license™ and "to have
only a single headwear licensee” might not constitute concerted action under its test. Id., at 32.
However, because the teams still own their own trademarks and are free to market those
trademarks as they see fit, even those two choices were agreements amongst potential
competitors and would constitute concerted action under the Government's own standard. At any
point, the teams could decide to license their own trademarks. It is significant, moreover, that the
teams here control NFLP. The two choices that the Government might treat as independent
action, although nominally made by NFLP, are for all functional purposes choices made by the
32 entities with potentially competing interests.
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of collective decisions. But the conduct at issue in this case is still concerted activity under the
Sherman Act that is subject to § 1 analysis.

When "restraints on competition are essential if the product is to be available at all,” per se
rules of illegality are inapplicable, and instead the restraint must be judged according to the
flexible Rule of Reason. NCAA, 468 U.S., at 101; see id., at 117 ("Our decision not to apply a
per se rule to this case rests in large part on our recognition that a certain degree of cooperation
is necessary if the type of competition that petitioner and its member institutions seek to market
is to be preserved"); see also Dagher, 547 U.S., at 6. In such instances, the agreement is likely to
survive the Rule of Reason. See Broadcast Music, Inc. v. Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc.,
441 U.S. 1, 23 (1979) ("Joint ventures and other cooperative arrangements are also not usually
unlawful . . . where the agreement . . . is necessary to market the product at all). And depending
upon the concerted activity in question, the Rule of Reason may not require a detailed analysis; it
""can sometimes be applied in the twinkling of an eye.”" NCAA, 468 U.S., at 109, n. 39.

Other features of the NFL may also save agreements amongst the teams. We have
recognized, for example, "that the interest in maintaining a competitive balance™ among "athletic
teams is legitimate and important,” NCAA, 468 U.S., at 117. While that same interest applies to
the teams in the NFL, it does not justify treating them as a single entity for § 1 purposes when it
comes to the marketing of the teams' individually owned intellectual property. It is, however,
unquestionably an interest that may well justify a variety of collective decisions made by the
teams. What role it properly plays in applying the Rule of Reason to the allegations in this case is
a matter to be considered on remand.

* * *

Accordingly, the judgment of the Court of Appeals is reversed, and the case is remanded for
further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

Notes and Questions

1. Is American Needle’s functional approach consistent with Copperweld? Do both cases
simply emphasize substance over form, with the substance analysis cutting the opposite
way in American Needle?

2. Justice Stevens dissented in Copperweld, arguing that reliance on the rule of reason
would be appropriate for discerning which intra-enterprise conspiracies enhance
efficiency and should be permitted and which do not and should be prohibited. Has he
markedly changed his position in American Needle?

3. ltis interesting to note that both parties sought certiorari after the Seventh Circuit’s
decision, which, as described in Part | of the Supreme Court’s opinion, held that Section
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1 did not apply to the NFL clubs’ licensing of their intellectual property. Why would the
NFL have sought further review?

The Department of Justice and the FTC participated jointly as amicus and relied on
Dagher to propose a standard which would exempt from Section 1 scrutiny collaborative
conduct where there had been an “effective merger” of some operations with no
anticompetitive spillover effects outside the area of thee effective merged operations. In
footnote 9 the Court notes that it is not necessary for it to consider the Government’s
position, given its resolution of the case. How does the Government’s proposed standard
differ from the Court’s?

Does it seem surprising that the Court cites Texaco v. Dagher only twice in passing for
(1) the proposition that the Supreme Court has not taken a literal approach to applying the
language of Section 1 and (2) in support of the application of the rule of reason? Is it
because the joint venture in Dagher was more “functionally integrated” than the NFL?
Do not Shell and Texaco, the two parties to the joint venture in Dagher, compete outside
of the joint venture, just as do the teams of the NFL outside of the licensing agreement?
What explains the different outcomes in the two cases? If American Needle stands for
the proposition that entities can’t fundamentally compete and still avoid Section 1
scrutiny, how does the joint venture in Dagher differ?

. Was the agreement between the NFL teams and the NFLP simply a joint marketing
agreement among independent competitors? Were there any facts about the NFLP and its
relationship to and with the NFL and its constituent teams that the Supreme Court
considered to be outcome determinative?

The American Needle Court points to the rule of reason as the appropriate vehicle for
determining whether the joint licensing agreement violates Section 1. Is that surprising?
Who is likely to win on remand? Is it likely that a per se price fixing case could be made
from the NFLP’s exclusive licensing agreement? In Major League Baseball Properties,
Inc. v. Salvino, Inc., 542 F.3d 290 (2d Cir. 2008), the Second Circuit applied the rule of
reason to a challenge the exclusive licensing agreement that Major League Baseball
teams had entered into with Major League Baseball Properties (MLBP) for the marketing
of their trademarks. It found that the under the quick look rule of reason, that the
claimant had failed to show any competitive injury. In what amounted to dicta, the court
stated that the exclusive agreement could not amount to price fixing among the clubs
because the teams shared profits equally. Judge (now Justice) Sotomayor disagreed in a
concurring opinion, noting that the effect of the agreement was to eliminate price
competition for trademark licenses among all the clubs. 1d at 334-35. Does this argue for
application of the per se rule in American Needle?

After American Needle, if law firm partners agree to raise their billing rate, is that an
agreement for purposes of Section 1?
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Insert for p. 560 before notes and questions
For Release: 08/19/2010

Federal Trade Commission and U.S. Department of Justice Issue Revised Horizontal
Merger Guidelines

2010 Guidelines More Accurately Represent Agencies’ Merger Review Process

The Federal Trade Commission and Department of Justice issued today revised Horizontal
Merger Guidelines that outline how the federal antitrust agencies evaluate the likely competitive
impact of mergers and whether those mergers comply with U.S. antitrust law. These changes
mark the first major revision of the merger guidelines in 18 years, and will give businesses a
better understanding of how the agencies evaluate proposed mergers.

A primary goal of the 2010 guidelines is to help the agencies identify and challenge
competitively harmful mergers while avoiding unnecessary interference with mergers that either
are competitively beneficial or likely will have no competitive impact on the marketplace. To
accomplish this, the guidelines detail the techniques and main types of evidence the agencies
typically use to predict whether horizontal mergers may substantially lessen competition.

The revised merger guidelines derive from the agencies’ collective experience in assessing
thousands of transactions focusing on the types of evidence the department and the FTC use to
decide whether a merger of competitors may harm competition. Many of the proposed
refinements and changes reflect issues previously identified in the “Commentary on the
Horizontal Merger Guidelines,” which the agencies jointly issued in 2006. In crafting the
revisions, the agencies considered a wide range of opinions gathered through a series of joint
public workshops, as well as hundreds of public comments submitted by attorneys, academics,
economists, consumer groups and businesses.

“Because of the hard work of all involved at both agencies, private parties and judges will be
better equipped to understand how the agencies evaluate deals. That improvement in clarity and
predictability will benefit everyone,” said FTC Chairman Jon Leibowitz. “We thank Christine
Varney and her team at DOJ for their terrific work on this initiative, demonstrating once again
how effectively and collegially the two agencies work together.”

“The revised guidelines better reflect the agencies’ actual practices,” said Christine Varney,
Assistant Attorney General in charge of the Department of Justice’s Antitrust Division. “The
guidelines provide more clarity and transparency, and will provide businesses with an even
greater understanding of how we review transactions. This has been a successful process due to
the commitment of the talented staff from both agencies and the excellent working relationship
with the FTC led by Jon Leibowitz.”

The agencies jointly announced the project in September 2009, followed by a series of
workshops over the course of the winter. The FTC issued proposed revisions for public comment
on April 20, 2010. All of the written comments are posted on the FTC’s website at
http://www.ftc.gov/os/comments/hmgrevisedguides/index.shtm.
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The 2010 guidelines are different from the 1992 guidelines in several important ways. The
guidelines:

o Clarify that merger analysis does not use a single methodology, but is a fact-specific
process through which the agencies use a variety of tools to analyze the evidence to
determine whether a merger may substantially lessen competition.

e Introduce a new section on “Evidence of Adverse Competitive Effects.” This section
discusses several categories and sources of evidence that the agencies, in their
experience, have found informative in predicting the likely competitive effects of
mergers.

o Explain that market definition is not an end itself or a necessary starting point of merger
analysis, and market concentration is a tool that is useful to the extent it illuminates the
merger’s likely competitive effects.

o Provide an updated explanation of the hypothetical monopolist test used to define
relevant antitrust markets and how the agencies implement that test in practice.

o Update the concentration thresholds that determine whether a transaction warrants further
scrutiny by the agencies.

« Provide an expanded discussion of how the agencies evaluate unilateral competitive
effects, including effects on innovation.

e Provide an updated section on coordinated effects. The guidelines clarify that coordinated
effects, like unilateral effects, include conduct not otherwise condemned by the antitrust
laws.

o Provide a simplified discussion of how the agencies evaluate whether entry into the
relevant market is so easy that a merger is not likely to enhance market power.

o Add new sections on powerful buyers, mergers between competing buyers, and partial
acquisitions.

The 2010 guidelines are available on the FTC’s website at
http://www.ftc.gov/0s/2010/08/100819hmg.pdf and the Department of Justice’s website at
http://www.justice.gov/atr/public/guidelines/hmg-2010.html.

The Horizontal Merger Guidelines, which were first adopted in 1968, and revised in 1992, serve
as an outline of the main analytical techniques, practices and enforcement policies the FTC and
the Department of Justice use to evaluate mergers and acquisitions involving actual or potential
competitors under federal antitrust laws.

The guidelines issued today take into account the legal and economic developments since the
1992 guidelines were issued. They are not intended to represent a change in the direction of
merger review policy, but to offer more clarity on the merger review process to better assist the
business community and, in particular, parties to mergers and acquisitions.

The Bank Merger Competitive Review guidelines, which the federal banking agencies and the
Department of Justice developed in 1995 to facilitate the competitive review of bank mergers,
remain unchanged. The Bank Merger Competitive Review guidelines can be found at
http://www.justice.gov/atr/public/premerger.htm.
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The FTC vote approving the 2010 guidelines was 5-0. Chairman Leibowitz issued a separate
written statement outlining some of the ways the guidelines have been improved. Commissioner
J. Thomas Rosch issued a separate concurring statement praising the guidelines for considering
“competitive effects first, and market definition second, thereby making clear that while . . . the
market must be defined at some point in the process, ultimately merger analysis must rest on the
competitive effects of a transaction.” Commissioner Rosch, nevertheless, noted concerns that the
guidelines place too much emphasis on economic evidence including margins and prices, and
insufficient attention to empirical evidence and non-price competitive effects.

The FTC’s Bureau of Competition works with the Bureau of Economics to investigate alleged
anticompetitive business practices and, when appropriate, recommends that the Commission take
law enforcement action. To inform the Bureau about particular business practices, call 202-326-
3300, send an e-mail to antitrust@ftc.gov, or write to the Office of Policy and Coordination,
Room 394, Bureau of Competition, Federal Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania Ave, N.W.,
Washington, DC 20580. To learn more about the Bureau of Competition, read “Competition
Counts” at http://www.ftc.gov/competitioncounts.

The full text of the new guidelines can be found at:

http://www.ftc.gov/0s/2010/08/100819hmaq.pdf or
http://www.justice.gov/atr/public/quidelines/hmg-2010.html

and should replace pages App. C-1 through App. C-28 of Appendix C in the casebook.

On page 600, replace the “Note on European Community Merger Law” with the following:

Articles 101 and 102 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (formerly
Avrticles 81 and 82, then Articles 85 and 86, of the Treaty establishing the European Community)
are the basis of EC competition law, including the law regarding mergers. Although Article 101
prohibits agreements that distort competition and Article 102 forbids one or more dominant
firms from abusing their market position, these articles include no express provision relating to
mergers. Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, O.J. (C 115) 47 (2008); Treaty
Establishing the European Community, O.J. (C 224) 1 (1992.

Initially, mergers attracted little attention because member states viewed mergers as a
convenient and effective method of integrating the Community’s economies and markets. When
the European Commission did finally bring merger enforcement actions, relying on the general
language of Articles 85 and 86 proved problematic and somewhat analogous to U.S. merger law
under the Sherman Act prior to passage of the Clayton Act. See Sergio Baches Opi, Merger
Control in the United States and the European Union: How Should the United States’
Experience Influence the Enforcement of the Council Merger Regulation? 6 J. Transnat’l L. &
Pol’y 223, 232-33 (1997).

In the first EC merger action, Continental Can Co. v. European Commission, 6/72, 1973
E.C.R. 215, 219-220, the Commission brought an action under Article 86 when a U.S. can
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company acquired 86% of the shares of the largest German producer of packaging and metal
closures, who in turn purchased 91% of the shares of a leading manufacturer of packaging
materials in Benelux. The European Court of Justice ruled that the acquisitions, although not
expressly prohibited by the article, could fall within Article 86 because its list of abuses was not
intended to be exhaustive. The decision sparked a long, sporadic debate over whether the
Commission should adopt an explicit merger control regulation.

Agreement was eventually reached on a regulation and a new era in European
antitrust law began on September 21, 1990 when EEC Regulation 4064/89 (*“the Merger
Regulation”) went into effect. The Merger Regulation applied to mergers and acquisitions, called
“concentrations,” which satisfied certain threshold tests. Once the threshold levels were met, the
parties to the transaction were required to file notification forms with the European Commission
(in a manner similar to that that required by the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act in the United States) and
undergo review by the Commission of the transaction’s affect on competition. The legal standard
under which mergers were assessed asked whether the merger “create[d] or strengthen[ed] a
dominant position as a result of which effective competition would be significantly impeded.”
This was a two-part test, requiring both dominance and a significant impeding of competition.

A new EC Merger Regulation, Council Regulation No. 139/2004, came into force on
May 1, 2004, resulting in a number of changes. For present purposes, the most significant of
those changes was in the governing substantive standard, which now states that “[a]
concentration which would significantly impede effective competition, in the common market or
in a substantial part of it, in particular as a result of the creation or strengthening of a dominant
position, shall be declared incompatible with the common market.” Art. 2(3). Although this
standard continues to include a reference to dominance, it no longer makes it a sine qua non of
illegality. The regulation goes further and specifies factors that the Commission, in making the
competition assessment, must take into account:

(a) the need to maintain and develop effective competition within the common market in
view of, among other things, the structure of all the markets concerned and the actual or
potential competition from undertakings located either within or outwith the Community;

(b) the market position of the undertakings concerned and their economic and financial
power, the alternatives available to suppliers and users, their access to supplies or
markets, any legal or other barriers to entry, supply and demand trends for the relevant
goods and services, the interests of the intermediate and ultimate consumers, and the
development of technical and economic progress provided that it is to consumers'
advantage and does not form an obstacle to competition.

Like the U.S. enforcement agencies, the EC has issued guidelines regarding its treatment of
mergers. See Guidelines on the assessment of horizontal mergers under the Council Regulation
on the control of concentrations between undertakings, OJ (C 31) 5 (2004); Guidelines on the
assessment of non-horizontal mergers under the Council Regulation on the control of
concentrations between undertakings, OJ (C 265) 6 (2008).

Generally speaking, the standards applied by the EC are similar to those applied in the
U.S., though there are some differences. See generally John J. Parisi, A Simple Guide to the EC
Merger Regulation of 2004, The Antitrust Source 1 (January 2005). Although the EC is often
thought to be more strict in its merger decisions, the comparison is in fact not clearly one-sided.
See Francois Lévéque, Merger Control: More Stringent in Europe than in the United States?
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(November 2007), available at http://www.cerna.ensmp.fr/Documents/FL-MergerEUvsUS.pdf.
An essential point, though, is that the EC applies the law to “all concentrations with a
Community dimension,” which includes not only mergers internal to the EC but also many
transactions that involve merging parties from countries outside Europe. Indeed, in recent years
the Commission has become increasingly involved in multinational mergers, resulting in
significant conflict with U.S. enforcement agencies and U.S. companies, which, if doing business
in Europe, must gain European Commission authorization in addition to U.S. approval for its
acquisitions.

In 1997 the Boeing Company, the world’s largest commercial jet aircraft manufacturer
with a 64% market share, acquired the McDonnell Douglas Corporation, a smaller but important
competitor. In July, 1997, the FTC approved the merger, despite the fact that it would increase
Boeing’s market share to over 70%. Although the FTC did not classify the Douglas Aircraft
Company (DAC), the commercial aircraft division of McDonnell Douglas, as a failing company,
it determined that the merger would not decrease competition in the commercial aircraft market
because DAC was no longer an effective entrant in the market.

The European Community expressed shock that the FTC had approved the merger and
accused it of protecting a “national champion” and ignoring its own standards for merger review.
The EC undertook its own review and approved the merger only on condition that Boeing
relinquish its recent 20 year exclusive supply contracts with American, Delta, and Continental
Airlines, who were the first, third, and fourth largest operators of DAC aircraft. Boeing was
forced to accept the condition, after being unable to persuade the Commission that the exclusive
supply agreements were unrelated to the merger. See Commission of the European Communities,
The Commission Clears the Merger Between Boeing and McDonnell Douglas Under Certain
Conditions and Obligations, 1997 O.J. (L 336-8/12/1997) 16.

Members of Congress in turn accused the EC of exceeding its jurisdictional authority and
attempting to protect and gain an unfair advantage for Airbus Industries, a European government
aircraft manufacturing consortium. H.R. Res. 191, 105th Cong. (1997), 143 Cong. Rec. 5550
(1997); S. Res. 108, 105th Cong. (1997), 143 Cong. Rec. 7609 (1997). The EC, however, stated
that it had taken into account U.S. concerns “to the extent consistent with EU law, and limited
the scope of its action to the civil [as opposed to military] side of the operation.” See generally
Roberto, The Boeing/McDonnell Douglas Merger Review: A Serious Stretch of European
Competition Powers, 24 Brook. J. Int’l L. 593 (1998).

In part, the EC opposed the Boeing/McDonnell Douglas merger because of concern of
possible “portfolio effects” or “range effects” emanating from the acquisition. The terms refer to
the potential of a dominant firm extending its market power into a complementary product
market. For example, purchasers often prefer buying a full line of complementary products from
a single seller, rather than selecting each product from different suppliers who do not offer a full
product line. Thus, if, through an acquisition, a company with market power extends its
complementary product lines, it may in theory enable the company to foreclose market access to
firms that do not offer a full line. According to the Commission, Boeing’s large fleet in service
coupled with increasing its types of available commercial aircraft through the acquisition of
McDonnell-Douglas “can be a key factor which may often determine decisions of airlines on
fleet planning or acquisitions.”

Portfolio effects played a major role in the Commission’s 2001 decision to block the $43
million acquisition of Honeywell by conglomerate General Electric, which is the largest maker
of jet engines. Honeywell manufactures industrial automation and control systems (avionics) for
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the aerospace industry. The U.S. Department of Justice Antitrust Division indicated it would not
oppose the merger on the minor condition that the merged entity sell off its helicopter engine
business. The European Commission, however, blocked the takeover because of its concern that
the combining of Honeywell’s avionics and GE’s dominant position in jet engines might lead to
dominance of the aerospace supply markets. The Commission was concerned, among other
issues, that GE would be able to offer low price “bundles” of aircraft engines and avionics to
which single or narrow-line competitors could not compete. See General Electric/Honeywell
Case COMP/M.2220, Commission Decision of July 3, 2001.

The decision, which was the Commission’s first block of a merger involving two U.S.
companies, heightened trade enmity between the European Union and the United States. It also
signaled a marked divergence in antitrust policy, since the Antitrust Division was persuaded that
the merged firm would benefit customers by offering lower prices and better products and by
inducing rivals to respond with better quality and lower prices. In other words, the Commission
appears more concerned with competitors and less with consumers than does the United States.

The parties appealed to the European Court of First Instance, which took more than four
years to render its decision. It did so in late 2005, see General Electric Co. v. Commission, Case
T-210/99 (Dec. 14, 2005), upholding the Commission’s rejection of the merger but on a much
narrower basis. The Court was troubled by certain horizontal aspects of the merger, such as the
regional jet engine market, the corporate jet engine market, and the market for small marine gas
turbines. It held, however, that the Commission had failed to adequately establish any
“conglomerate effects” or advantages based on the merged company’s bundling of products or
services and offering customers better deals than the competition.

The General Electric decision was the latest of several in which the Court of First
Instance overturned or criticized Commission merger findings. See Tetra Laval BV v.
Commission, Cases T-5/02 and T-80/02 (Oct. 25, 2002); Schneider Electric SA v. Commission,
Cases T-310/01 and T-77/02 (Oct. 22, 2002); Airtours plc v. Commission, Case No. T-342/99
(June 6, 2002). These decisions, at least in part, may be the harbinger of change, as the EC’s
“regulatory zeal” seems to be waning. By the middle of the current decade it had approved a
number of large mergers, including Oracle’s takeover of PeopleSoft Inc., Proctor & Gamble’s
$53 billion acquisition of Gillette Co., and Johnson & Johnson’s $25.4 billion purchase of
Guidant Corp., a medical device maker. Further, GE itself had received EC approval on 13
acquisitions since the Honeywell ruling in 2001. See M. Jacoby, Court Backs EU on Blocked GE
Deal — But Future Acquisitions Might Be More Difficult To Reject Based on Ruling, Wall Street
Journal, Dec. 15, 2005, at p.A3.

On page 729, delete note (5), renumber note (6) to (5), and add the following note (6):

(6) Independent of federal antitrust law, a number of states continue to view resale price
maintenance as illegal per se under their own antitrust laws or other state laws. Indeed, in 2009
Maryland amended its antitrust law to make resale price maintenance illegal. Maryland Antitrust
Act, Md. Code Ann. Com. Law § 11-204(b). And there have been several bills introduced in
Congress to the same effect, though those bills have not progressed far in the legislative process.

Two recent cases, in California and New York, illustrate the importance of state law in
this area. In February 2010, the California Attorney General brought suit in California state court
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alleging that DermaQuest, a maker of cosmetics, committed a per se violation of California’s
antitrust law, the Cartwright Act, by entering into RPM agreements with distributors.
DermaQuest entered into a consent judgment, agreeing to disavow the agreements, refrain from
RPM in the future, and pay a civil penalty and investigative costs. antitrust statute by entering
into agreements with sellers. See 98 Antitrust & Trade Reg. Rep. (BNA) 316 (3/12/10).

In the New York case, the attorney general filed a petition in March 2010 alleging resale
price maintenance by Tempur-Pedic International, Inc., a maker of mattresses. The petition did
not assert claims under the Sherman Act or under New York’s own antitrust statute, the Donnelly
Act, but instead under New York General Business Code § 369-a, which provides that “[a]ny
contract provision that purports to restrain a vendee of a commodity from reselling such
commodity at less than the price stipulated by the vendor or producer shall not be enforceable or
actionable at law.” This statute appears to establish a per se rule, but it is less clear whether its
provision that RPM is “unenforceable” gives rise to an independent action against the seller. The
case is pending. See 98 Antitrust & Trade Reg. Rep. (BNA) 464 (4/16/10).

On page 1167, replace note (6) with the following note:

(6) Litigation in these “reverse payment” settlement cases has continued. The Eleventh
Circuit, as illustrated in Schering-Plough, occupies something of a middle ground, with the Sixth
Circuit having decided that one such settlement violated the Sherman Act, In re Cardizem CD
Antitrust Litig., 332 F.3d 896 (6th Cir. 2003), and the Second and Federal Circuits treating such
settlements as close to per se legal, see In re Tamoxifen Citrate Antitrust Litig., 466 F.3d 187
(2nd Cir. 2006); In re Ciprofloxacin Hydrochloride Antitrust Litig., 544 F.3d 1323 (Fed. Cir.
2008). The most interesting recent development has been the Second Circuit’s suggestion in a
recent case that the losing plaintiff seek en banc review, perhaps suggesting that the Second
Circuit will reconsider its lenient approach to these settlements. See Arkansas Carpenters Health
and Welfare Fund v. Bayer AG, 604 F.3d 98 (2d Cir. 2010). Both the FTC and the Antitrust
Division have filed briefs supporting en banc rehearing of the case.
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